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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE
Located seven miles north of Greensboro along Georgia Highway 5925 is the nineteenth 

century community of Penfield. The town is centered around what was once the old Mercer 
University campus and consists of a nineteenth century residential community to the east 
and west of the campus area.

Presently the Mercer University campus area is defined on its grassy slope by three 
buildings: the Science or Academic Building, the Chapel and the President's House. Several 
other structures made up the college complex in the 1830*s and 1840 f s, but have been de-

/ stroyed. The Chapel (1846) was built by David M. Demarest at a cost of $6794 and designed 
in a classical format 58 f x 86', with 48 over 48 light sash and a temple form, six Doric 
columed portico. Above the portico is a bell tower; the interior is simple in design with 
a balcony running on 3 sides of the church. Science Hall, completed in 1853, is a two story 
brick building with central two story Ionic portico. It originally contained a "laboratory, 
a museum for geological specimens, the library, and several classrooms." Over the years it 
has served as the Penfield Grammar School and presently is used for occasional church 
related purposes. Located northeast of the Chapel is the President's House, completed over

/ a period of years in 1857 as a two story frame, four room central hall plan building, 
presently with a central one story portico. A delicate dentil motif details the cornice. 
The interior architectural elements include simple pilaster supported freize mantels and

, also details on all unpainted doors of feather edge graining. Previously on this site was
\ built Steward's Hall. At least five other Mercer Institute and University buildings were 

a part of the nineteenth century complex. These, no longer standing, include a brick 
dormitory, a brick dining room, the Old Chapel, Phi Delta Literary Society Hall and Cicero­ 
nian Hall. The Brick Dormitory, erected in 1848-59 as a three story, twenty room building,' 
.SO 1 x 90', was built at a cost of $7609; it was torn down after 1871 when Mercer moved to 
Macon. The Brick Dining Room, to the east of the President's House was built in 1833 and 
burned in 1843. The Old Chapel was built in 1833 of wood with a brick basement described 
as a "large commodious building 48' x 36', two stories high;" the total cost was $1500; 
subsequently used as a dormitory; moved to nearby town of Woodville. Two literary societies 
built halls "of wood," Ciceronian in 1834 later replaced in 1848 and Phi Delta in 1836, 
replaced in 1860.

Directly across the grassy slope of the old Mercer campus are several 19th century 
brick commercial structures.

To the west of the Mercer campus is a residential area and remaining portions of the 
Female Academy that was established in 1838. The Female Academy, now the James Murray 
House is a two story frame structure with five bays. In plan it is basically a four room 
central hall downstairs with a smaller hall upstairs, thus accomodating another two rooms. 
The first floor hall features two identical staircases that approach the second floor from 
the rear as well as the front hall. Further to the west of the Female Academy is the ; 
Iverson-Brooks-Colclough House. This raised two story structure has a central two story 
square columed portico with fanlighted entrance, reminiscent of the work of c._1820-30 
architects Daniel Pratt and Collin Rodgers. Four room central hall in plan, this house and 
its landscape, although there was a restoration c. 1959-60 and presently unoccupied, main­ 
tains its nineteenth century character.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE
Penfield Historic District is significant because of its importance in early Georgia 

educational history and for its importance architecturally as a mid-nineteenth century 
community.

As early as 1794 a resolution was introduced in the Georgia Baptist Convention for the 
establishment of a manual labor school and for the training of ministerial students. It 
was not until 1823 that a committee was appointed to tour the State to find a location for 
such a school. The committee to select the site was composed of Jesse Mercer, Billington 
Sanders, Thomas Stocks, John B. Walker, Absalom James and James Armstrong. They chose a 
450 acre site owned by James Redd seven miles north of Greensboro. The Georgia Baptist 
Convention voted unanimously to name the site Penfield in honor of Josiah Penfield, a 
jeweller who made the original gift of $2500 for the new school. On the second Monday in 
January of 1833, Mercer Institute was begun with 39 students. The treasurer's report to 
the Georgia Baptist Convention in 1833, shows these items: "Paid John Wilson for erecting 
two hewed log cabins, $300. Paid Herman Mercer for building kitchen, chimneys, etc. $155. 
Before the end of the first year a two-story building was begun, costing $1500..." By 
December of 1837 the Senate and House of Representatives of Georgia passed an Act authoriz­ 
ing the Georgia Baptist Convention to establish and endow a collegiate institution to be " 
known as Mercer University. The Reverend Adiel Sherwood wrote in his third edition of the 
Gazateer of Georgia that "Penfield...is on the site of the labour school, called Mercer 
Institute, and now the seat of Mercer University. (Mercer was named for Jesse Mercer, one 
of the most outstanding Georgia Baptists and largest financial supporters of the school.) ~ 
This town was surveyed in October 1837, and families fast improving lots. Being the loca­ 
tion of an academy, college, and female school, and near enough to the railroad to enjoy 
its advantages yet escaping its corrupting influence, it will no doubt become a considerable 
town...A steam mill was to be erected this year, and the railroad will convey the best kind 
of lumber from Warren and Columbia counties..."

The Female Academy of which Adiel Sherwood wrote was begun in 1838 but became a town 
school after 1855.

By 1871 Mercer was moved to Macon, Georgia. After the Civil War, larger cities had 
begun a drive to have the Mercer complex moved to an urban area. Much of the Penfield 
campus property was sold to private individuals and some of the buildings were torn down. 
The Chapel and its surrounding property was given to the Penfield Baptist Church. The 
President's House was reserved as a pastoreum.

(continued)
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Beginning at the intersection of the Penfield town limits on the east, and Georgia Highway 
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Across from the Female Academy Dormitory Building is a circle drive on which is 
located a Victorian brick Presbyterian Church (1876) and four frame late 19th century- 
early 20th century houses.

Behind the Female Academy is a series of structures including a brick store, two one- 
story late 19th century frame houses, the Billington Sanders House and two intrusions (of 
20th century small frame houses). The Billington Sanders House is a two-story, frame, 
five bay structure with exterior side chimneys and a one-story shed porch supported by 
fluted doric columns. East of the Mercer complex are the remnants of a mill village that 
consists of three simple one-story unpainted frame houses. North of this area is the 
Penfield Cemetery in which is buried numerous personages associated with the community 
and Baptist organization, including the grave of Jesse Mercer.

Continuing eastward up Highway 5925 from the old Mercer campus is a series of houses 
that date in the nineteenth century with only three 20th century houses as noted on the 
sketch map.

The Armstrong-Bickers. House is a five bay frame house with exterior side chimneys 
and a shed one-story porch; in plan the house is a 2 room central hall with rear additions 
An outstanding interior feature is the front bedroom mantel which has an intricate feather 
edge graining pattern, in excellent condition. The Bickers House originally was located 
on the Mercer campus site, but was moved to its present location when Mercer was built.

Next to the Armstrong-Bickers House is the site of a building where Jesse Mercer 
published the Christian Index and Banner for many years

Built in 1845, the A. B. SharpeHouse is a raised, hip roof five bay cottage with 
simple early Victorian porch detail. Shortly before, in 1840, the Peter Northern House 
was reputedly moved from Jones County to Penfield. This two-story frame structure was re­ 
modeled in the twentieth century, the portico having been changed in the 1910's. In plan 
this two over two room house with first floor rear additions was altered on the second 
floor to add boarding rooms during the Mercer era.

Across the street from the Northern House is the Dr. Robert J. Massey House, c. 1849- 
50, a raised cottage with two central chimneys and a shed Victorian porch. Relatively few 
changes have been made with the exception of the first floor porch supports that date from 
the turn of the century. Next door is the Macon-Malone-Conger House, c. 1840, originally 
one of the primary boarding houses for Mercer. This two-story frame house has five bays, 
two central chimneys and a large attic space.

The J.O. Boswell House, across the street, was built in 1902. It grew from a one 
room dwelling into its present form as a one and a half story frame house with central 
gable.
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Down the road is the Hobbs-Moss House, a plantation plain style with two front doors 
leading into relatively small rooms with an enclosed stairway. Traces still may be found 
of the original kitchen and connecting passageway which led from one of the rooms in the 
rear of the house covered by a shed roof.

Significance , page 2

Architecturally, the community of Penfield is a superb example of a nineteenth 
century town. Stylistically the structures range from plantation plain style, such 
as the Moss House, to early classical examples such as the Brooks House into the 
Greek Revival buildings of the Mercer campus as well as early Victorian designs on 
simple raised cottages.

Presently, Penfield is a slow-moving residential and agricultural community, 
seemingly not endangered by twentieth century insfrusions.
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